IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEVON RAY HOCKEMIER, Appellant, CASE NO. 83147

v.

RENEE BAKER, WARDEN LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER (LLC), Respondent. Electronically Filed Nov 15 2021 08:55 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Order Denying Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus

Fourth Judicial District Court, County of Elko The Honorable Kriston N. Hill, District Court Judge, Dept. 1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

BEN GAUMOND LAW FIRM, PLLC BENJAMIN C. GAUMOND, Owner Nevada Bar Number 8081 495 Idaho Street Suite 209 Elko, NV 89801

TYLER J. INGRAM Elko Co. District Attorney Nevada Bar Number 11819 540 Court Street, 2nd Floor Elko, NV 89801 (775)738-3101

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over an order from the district court denying a postconviction petition for writ of habeas corpus pursuant to NRS 34.575(1). Thirty (30) days from the service of such an order is the deadline to file an appeal. NRS 34.575(1).

The "Order Denying Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus" was entered on May 24, 2021. *Joint Appendix 877 (Volume 4)*. Said order denying the petitions was mailed to Devon Ray Hockemier on May 24, 2021. *Joint Appendix 885 (Volume 4)*. The notice to appeal that order was filed on June 25, 2021. *Joint Appendix 886 (Volume 4)*.

NRS 178.482 says, "Whenever a party has the right or is required to do an act within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other paper upon the party and the notice or other paper is served by mail, 3 days shall be added to the prescribed period."

Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), a notice of appeal must be filed "no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served" – mirroring the timeline articulated in NRS 34.575(1).

Therefore, Mr. Hockemier had until and including June 28, 2021 to file his appeal. His notice of appeal was filed in a timely matter.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(3) and NRAP 17(b)(4), the two classes of postconviction appeals that are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals of the State of Nevada are "appeals that involve a challenge to a judgment of conviction or sentence for offenses that are not category A felonies" and "appeals that involve a challenge to the computation of time served under a judgment of conviction, a motion to correct an illegal sentence, or a motion to modify a sentence."

Mr. Hockemier's appeal is a postconviction appeal that does not fall under either NRAP 17(b)(3) and NRAP 17(b)(4). As such, this appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals of the State of Nevada. Thus, this Court should retain the instant appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the district court commit reversible error in denying Devon
Ray Hockemier's postconviction petitions for writ of habeas corpus?

///

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Devon Ray Hockemier filed his postconviction petition for writ of habeas corpus on April 12, 2017. *Joint Appendix 1 (Volume 1)*. In a separate filing, Mr. Hockemier filed his "Appendix of Exhibits" – also on April 12, 2017. *Joint Appendix 26 (Volume 1)*.

Tony Liker, in his capacity as counsel of record for Mr. Hockemier, filed "Petitioner's Supplement to Petition for Habeas Corpus Relief" on September 11, 2017. *Joint Appendix 439 (Volume 3)*.

On May 30, 2018, then District Court Judge Nancy Porter directed the Respondent Renee Baker, Warden of the Lovelock Correctional Center, to file a response to said postconviction petition within forty-five (45) days of that order. *Joint Appendix 517 (Volume 3)*.

Dwayne Deal, on behalf of Nevada Department of Corrections

Director James E. Dzurenda, filed a "Return to Petition for Writ of

Habeas Corpus" on June 27, 2018 verifying that Mr. Hockemier was in
the custody of the Nevada Department of Corrections pursuant to a
judgment of conviction that was filed on June 9, 2015. *Joint Appendix*519 (Volume 3).

The Elko County District Attorney's Office, on behalf of the director of the Nevada Department of Corrections, filed its answer to the postconviction petition and supplement on July 17, 2018. *Joint Appendix 525 (Volume 3)*.

On February 4, 2020, then District Court Judge Nancy Porter ordered the Nevada Department of Corrections to produce Mr. Hockemier for the evidentiary hearing on the postconviction petition and supplement. *Joint Appendix 601 (Volume 3)*. That hearing was held on July 1, 2020 and Shellie Loomis transcribed said hearing. *Joint Appendix 603 (Volume 3)*.

District Court Judge Kriston N. Hill filed the "Order Denying Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus" on May 24, 2021. *Joint Appendix* 877 (Volume 4). On June 25, 2021, Mr. Hockemier filed his "Notice of Appeal" on June 25, 2021. *Joint Appendix* 886 (Volume 4).

On July 30, 2021, District Court Judge Kriston N. Hill allowed Benjamin C. Gaumond to substitute in as counsel of record for Mr. Hockemier. *Joint Appendix 888 (Volume 4)*.

||///

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Having the assistance of legal counsel Tony Liker, Mr. Hockemier filed his "Petitioner's Supplement to Petition for Habeas Corpus Relief." *Joint Appendix 439 (Volume 3)*. In that filing, Mr. Liker asserted that Mr. Macfarlan's contingent transfer motion – which was the motion to have Mr. Hockemier's case transferred from justice court to juvenile court – "was not fully and fairly developed by trial counsel." *Joint Appendix 447 (Volume 3)*.

In the "Contingent Motion to Transfer Case to Juvenile Court," Mr. Macfarlan noted that the criminal complaint alleged that the acts Mr. Hockemier was accused of committing were allegedly committed between September 1, 2009 and February 28, 2010. Joint Appendix 474 (Volume 3). Moreover, Mr. Hockemier's date of birth was indicated as November 24, 1992. Joint Appendix 474 (Volume 3). Since that would indicate that Mr. Hockemier was under the age of eighteen (18) at the time of the alleged incidents, Mr. Macfarlan invoked NRS 62B.370(1), which states the following:

23 || ///

Except as otherwise provided in this title, a court shall transfer a case and record to the juvenile court if, during the pendency of a proceeding involving a criminal offense, it is ascertained that the person who is charged with the offense was less than 18 years of age when the person allegedly committed the offense.

Joint Appendix 474 (Volume 3).

In response, the State opposed Mr. Macfarlan's contingent motion.

Joint Appendix 477 (Volume 3). In so doing, the State cited NRS

1. Except as otherwise provided in this title, the juvenile court has exclusive original jurisdiction over a child living or found within the county who is alleged or adjudicated to have committed a delinquent act.

. . .

62B.330 as follows:

3. For the purposes of this section, each of the following acts shall be deemed not to be a delinquent act, and the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over a person who is charged with committing such an act:

. . .

- (e) A category A or B felony and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as the category A or B felony, regardless of the nature of the related offense, if the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the offense was committed, and:
 - (1) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense and charged before the person is at least 20 years, 3 months of age, but less than 21 years of age; or

(2) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense until the person reaches 21 years of age.

Joint Appendix 478-479 (Volume 3).

The State, in that opposition, averred that Mr. Hockemier was not identified as the perpetrator of the alleged offenses until he was 21 years of age. Joint Appendix 479 (Volume 3). According to the State, one of the alleged victims said that an individual who used to live with him "did inappropriate things with him" but could not identify the perpetrator. Joint Appendix 479 (Volume 3). The State said that, after talking to the alleged victim's mother, the detective learned the identity of Mr. Hockemier on November 25, 2013 – one day after Mr. Hockemier's twenty-first (21st) birthday. Joint Appendix 479-480 (Volume 3).

Mr. Liker attached the preliminary hearing transcript to the supplemental petition. *Joint Appendix 492-516 (Volume 3)*. Contained in that transcript is the testimony of Zachary Hessing, a detective with the Elko County Police Department for the past one and one-half (1 1/2) years. *Joint Appendix 507-512 (Volume 3)*.

Mr. Hessing testified that he started an investigation on Devon Hockemier on November 21, 2013. Joint Appendix 507 (Volume 3). On that same date, he met with a woman named Hydie Overholser – who is the mother of the alleged victims O.M. and S.B. Joint Appendix 508-509 (Volume 3). O.M. described the person who allegedly sexually abused him as a "male subject" who had lived with the family, approximately 18 years old, works at McDonald's, and had a mother by the name of Pam. Joint Appendix 508 (Volume 3). Mr. Hessing clarified that he talked to "all the parties involved" except Mr. Hockemier on November 21, 2013. Joint Appendix 507 (Volume 3).

As for S.B., he "discussed Devon's downstairs parts" and he "said Devon attempted to put his downstairs part in his bottom." *Joint Appendix 508-509 (Volume 3)*. Later, Mr. Hessing testified that S.B. told him that "Devon asked him to take his pants down" and that S.B. "took his pants down, and Devon had him move to the bed." *Joint Appendix 509 (Volume 3)*. Mr. Hessing testified that S.B. said "that Devon had him lay on his side. And Devon attempted to put his penis in to SB's bottom" and that he "stated that he told Devon that it hurt,

that it felt like ripping. And Devon stopped." Joint Appendix 509 (Volume 3).

Mr. Hessing would meet up with Devon Ray Hockemier at Mr. Hockemier's house and, early in the encounter, Mr. Hessing read Mr. Hockemier his Miranda rights – which Mr. Hockemier waived. *Joint Appendix 509 (Volume 3)*. During this interview, Mr. Hockemier admitted to having oral sex and anal sex with O.M. and that Mr. Hockemier would give oral sex to O.M. *Joint Appendix 509 (Volume 3)*. Also, during this interview, Mr. Hockemier confessed "that he had attempted to put his penis in to SB's bottom. And SB told him that it hurt, and so he stopped." *Joint Appendix 510 (Volume 3)*. Moreover, Mr. Hockemier told Mr. Hessing that "he had SB give him oral sex on a few different occasions." *Joint Appendix 510 (Volume 3)*.

Sherburne Macfarlan was given the opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Hessing. *Joint Appendix 510 (Volume 3)*. Mr. Macfarlan, early in the questioning, asked questions about (1) who was present in the interview with O.M., (2) the focal point of the interviewing starting out as being the investigation of O.M. possibly sexually abusing a child in

the Elko area, (3) the number of times O.M. was abused, and (4) whether a boy named "Angel" had attempted to kill O.M. with an axe. Joint Appendix 510-511 (Volume 3). O.M. told Mr. Hessing that there were two occasions when Mr. Hockemier had anal intercourse with O.M. Joint Appendix 510 (Volume 3).

When getting to the part regarding S.B., Mr. Macfarlan confirmed that the date of the interview with S.B. was November 25, 2013. *Joint Appendix 511 (Volume 3)*. S.B. disclosed one time that he claimed Mr. Hockemier attempted to have anal intercourse with him. *Joint Appendix 511 (Volume 3)*.

Amid all of Mr. Macfarlan's questioning, there were no questions asked about when Mr. Hessing first became aware of the identity of Devon Ray Hockemier as the perpetrator of sexual abuse on O.M. or S.B. *Joint Appendix 510-511 (Volume 3)*. Throughout all the questioning by both parties, Detective Hessing never testified, nor was he asked, when he first learned of the identity of Devon Ray Hockemier as the alleged perpetrator in these incidents. *Joint Appendix 507-512*.

When it came time to give a summation, Mr. Macfarlan did not mention any legal argument about jurisdiction and NRS 62B.370 or NRS 62B.330. *Joint Appendix 512 (Volume 3)*. Instead, Mr. Macfarlan was fixated on the corpus delecti rule and that some of the charges should not be bound over on that basis – excluding both of the kidnapping charges. *Joint Appendix 512 (Volume 3)*.

In the amended criminal complaint that was filed in the Elko Justice Court on July 8, 2014, Mr. Hockemier was charged with Count 1, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against O.M.); Count 2, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 years of Age (against O.M.); Count 3, Open or Gross Lewdness (against O.M.); Count 4, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against O.M.); Count 5, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age (against O.M.); Count 6, Open or Gross Lewdness (against O.M.); Count 7, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against O.M.); Count 8, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age (against O.M.); Count 9, Open or Gross Lewdness (against O.M.); Count 10, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against O.M.); Count 11, Lewdness with a

Child Under 14 Years of Age (against O.M.); Count 12, Open or Gross Lewdness (against O.M.); Count 13, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against O.M.); Count 14, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age (against O.M.); Count 15, Open or Gross Lewdness (against O.M.); Count 16, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against S.B.); Count 17, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age (against S.B.); Count 18, Open or Gross Lewdness (against S.B.); Count 19, Sexual Assault on a Child Under the Age of 14 Years (against S.B.); Count 20, Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age (against S.B.); Count 21, Open or Gross Lewdness (against S.B.); Count 22, Kidnapping in the First Degree (against O.M.); and Count 23, Kidnapping in the Second Degree (against O.M.). Joint Appendix 193-201 (Volume 1).

Justice of the Peace Mason Simons ordered the matter bound up to the Fourth Judicial District Court on all counts excepting Counts 13 through 15, inclusive. *Joint Appendix 512 (Volume 3)*.

The Amended Memorandum of Plea Agreement was filed in the action of State v. Hockemier in the Fourth Judicial District Court in

- ·

case number CR-FP-14-0635. Joint Appendix 354 (Volume 2). That deal entailed Mr. Hockemier pleading guilty to two (2) counts of Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age, category A felonies as defined by NRS 201.230. Joint Appendix 354 (Volume 2). Both parties retained the full freedom to argue at the time of sentencing. Joint Appendix 354 (Volume 2).

In Devon Ray Hockemier's postconviction petition for writ of habeas corpus, he identified as his fourth ground for relief that he "was deprived of his Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to effective assistance of counsel during all critical stages of court proceeding in violation of the United States Constitution." *Joint Appendix 18 (Volume 1)*. Included in that argument was the assertion that trial counsel Sherburne Macfarlan failed to present sufficient evidence in mitigation – including character witnesses – at the sentencing hearing. *Joint Appendix 20-22 (Volume 1)*.

As part of his district court appendix, Mr. Hockemier included the transcription of the sentencing hearing that he attended along with his then counsel of record Sherburne Macfarlan. *Joint Appendix 376-404*

(Volume 2). When the district court asked the prosecution if it had any witnesses to present at the sentencing hearing, Deputy Elko County District Attorney Jonathan Schulman proclaimed that he had witnesses to present. Joint Appendix 382 (Volume 2). When the district court asked Mr. Macfarlan the same question, he answered, "No, Your Honor." Joint Appendix 382 (Volume 2).

During this hearing, the State asked that the two sentences for Lewdness on a Minor Under the Age of Fourteen run consecutively.

Joint Appendix 392 (Volume 2). Mr. Macfarlan responded that the sentences should run concurrently. Joint Appendix 396-397 (Volume 2).

At the sentencing hearing, then District Court Judge Nancy
Porter decided to follow the State of Nevada's recommendation for two
consecutive prison sentences of ten (10) years to life. *Joint Appendix*405-407 (Volume 2).

An appeal was filed in the Nevada Supreme Court from Judge
Porter's decision in case number 68333. *Joint Appendix 409 (Volume 2)*.
In the entire opening brief, the only ground for relief that Mr.
Macfarlan brought on Mr. Hockemier's behalf was whether Judge

Porter abused Her Honor's discretion by ordering the prison sentences to be served consecutively. *Joint Appendix 415-416 (Volume 2)*. No where in this brief did Mr. Macfarlan challenge any jurisdictional defect that arose in the justice court. *Joint Appendix 409-417 (Volume 2)*.

In the petitioner's supplemental petition, Attorney Tony Liker noted that Mr. Macfarlan had filed his contingent motion to transfer on July 28, 2014 and that, by the time of the preliminary hearing, "trial counsel knew what he had to establish in order to prevail on the motion. Trial counsel failed to develop this issue, this was a low hanging fruit, that was easy to pluck had trial counsel developed this testimony. Conversely, the State was educated as well, it was crucial that the identity of [Devon Ray Hockemier] was learned after November 24. Trial counsel [Sherburne Macfarlan] totally abandoned this crucial jurisdictional ground." Joint Appendix 442 (Volume 3). Citing the record from the preliminary hearing, Mr. Liker reminded the district court that Detective Hessing "specifically stated that" he "first started an investigation into Devon Hockemier on November 21, 2015" and that this "necessarily means that the Petitioner's identify [sic] was known

prior to Petitioner's 21st birthday." *Joint Appendix 442 (Volume 3)*. On top of that, Mr. Liker asserted that Mr. Macfarlan did not request a hearing on the issue of the contingent motion to transfer and did not reply to the State's opposition. *Joint Appendix 442 (Volume 3)*.

Later in the supplemental petition, Mr. Liker said that "Trial counsel only had to raise the issue of when the police learned the Petitioner's identity. Clearly, the coincidental alleged learning of the Petitioner's identity ONE DAY AFTER he turned 21 raises all sorts of flags." *Joint Appendix 447 (Volume 3)* (emphasis in original).

In the State of Nevada's answer to the original petition as well as the supplemental petition, Deputy District Attorney Jeffrey C. Slade cited to Detective Hessing's police report in concluding that it was on November 25, 2013 (the very day after Mr. Hockemier's 21st birthday) that he first learned that the identity of the person who sexually abused O.M. was Devon Ray Hockemier. *Joint Appendix 526-527 (Volume 3)*. According to the State, it was also on November 25, 2013 that Mr. Hessing was informed that S.B. was molested at the hands of Mr. Hockemier. *Joint Appendix 527 (Volume 3)*.

The State, relying on court minutes rather than a transcription, showed that there was a motion hearing on August 14, 2014 and that the justice court denied the contingent motion to transfer at said hearing. *Joint Appendix 528 (Volume 3)*. In a laudatory tone, the State asserted that defense counsel Sherburne Macfarlan "successfully convinced the justice court to not bind over three of said counts" out of twenty-three (23) counts. *Joint Appendix 528 (Volume 3)*.

At no point in said answer did the State specifically address the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel with respect to trial counsel's lack of objection to jurisdiction at the preliminary hearing vis-à-vis the plain statement that Detective Hessing started the investigation of Devon Ray Hockemier on November 21, 2013. *Joint Appendix 525-543* (Volume 3).

On February 4, 2020, Attorney David Loreman was appointed to replace Tony Liker as Mr. Hockemier's attorney due to Mr. Liker's "serious medical issues." *Joint Appendix 598 (Volume 3)*.

|///

23 || ///

10

1112

13

14

15

16

1718

19

2021

22

23

24

25

On July 1, 2020, the hearing on Mr. Hockemier's original petition for writ of habeas corpus as well as his supplemental petition for writ of habeas corpus was held. *Joint Appendix 603 (Volume 3)*.

At this hearing, Mr. Loreman asked former defense counsel for Mr. Hockemier, Sherburne Macfarlan, if the contingent motion for transfer was denied. Joint Appendix 612 (Volume 3). Mr. Macfarlan responded that said motion was denied. Joint Appendix 612 (Volume 3). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Loreman asked Mr. Macfarlan if, during the cross-examination of the officer, he clarified "when the officer actually knew of Mr. Hockemier?" Joint Appendix 613 (Volume 3). Mr. Macfarlan responded that he did not recollect one way or another but would defer to the transcript of the preliminary hearing. Joint Appendix 613 (Volume 3). Mr. Loreman asked Mr. Macfarlan if that line of questioning "would be important if you were to go forward with any more action with regard to returning this to a juvenile court; correct?" Joint Appendix 613 (Volume 3). Mr. Macfarlan responded, "Potentially, I guess, yes." Joint Appendix 613 (Volume 3). When pressed about the importance of the timeline when Detective Hessing

first learned of Devon Ray Hockemier's identity relative to Mr.

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