1			
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
3	Electronically Filed Jan 18 2022 11:46 a.n	n.	
4	DEVON RAY HOCKEMIER,  Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cou	ırt	
5	Appellant, CASE NO.83147		
6	VS.		
7	RENEE BAKER, WARDEN		
8	LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER (LLC),		
. 9	Respondent.		
10	Appeal From The Fourth Judicial District Court		
11	Of The State of Nevada In And For The County Of Elko		
12	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
13			
14	THE HONORABLE AARON D. FORD ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA 100 N. CARSON STREET		
15	CARSON CITY, NV 89701		
16	TYLER J. INGRAM Elko County District Benjamin Gaumond State Bar Number:8081

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Hockemier bears the burden of overcoming the strong presumption that his trial and appellate attorney provided reasonable professional assistance. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668(1984). He further must show that he suffered prejudice as a result. *Id.* This Court will not reverse a district court's holding if supported by substantial evidence. *Ford v. State*, 105 Nev. 850(1989).

The vast majority of Hockemier's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel stem from an incomplete understanding of the relevant statutory and Nevada case law surrounding whether his offenses fall under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court. Hockemier assumes that if he had been identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense before he turned 21 years of age the juvenile court would have had jurisdiction over his case. In doing so Hockemier overlooks NRS 62B.330(3)(e)(1) which lowers the age at which the juvenile court would have gained jurisdiction to 20 years, 3 months of age.

Hockemier's bare allegation that his trial counsel failed to address the jurisdictional issue is belied by the record. It was established at the habeas hearing that Mr. Macfarlan filed a motion to transfer the case to juvenile

court which was opposed. The justice court held a hearing on the motion four days before the preliminary hearing. Detective Hessing was questioned by the parties and the motion was ultimately denied by the justice court.

Applying years of experience, Mr. Macfarlan considered whether to challenge the justice court's ruling on the jurisdictional issue and determined it lacked sufficient merit. Hockemier over asserts Detective Hessing's testimony at the preliminary hearing to support this claim that Mr. Macfarlan should have reasserted the then moot issue of jurisdiction. Hockemier failed to substantiate his claim that counsel's performance at sentencing was ineffective.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. Legal Standard for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction based on a guilty plea, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty an[d] would have insisted on going to trial." *State v. Gomes*, 112 Nev. 1473, 1479 (1996) (internal citations omitted).

In deciding ineffective assistance of counsel or IAC claims, "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential," and "counsel

is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689-690 (1984). The U.S. Supreme Court explained:

A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that Counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (citations and quotes omitted) (emphasis added). It is well-settled that this Court will not reverse a district court's holding if substantial evidence supports the court. Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 854, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989) (internal citation omitted).

Effective assistance of appellate counsel does not mean that appellate counsel must raise every non-frivolous issue. *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1113-14(1996) (internal citation omitted). An attorney's

decision not to raise meritless issues on appeal is not ineffective assistance 2 of counsel. Id. To establish prejudice based on the deficient assistance of appellate counsel, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would 3 have a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id. In making this 4

determination, a court must review the merits of the omitted claim. *Id*.

6

5

1

7

8

9

11

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Hockemier comes before this Court claiming that his trial and appellate counsel, Sherburne Macfarlan, made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment so much so that Hockemier suffered prejudice as a result of said alleged errors. A competent district court judge has already found that Hockemier failed to carry his burden. Rather than accept the reality of the evidence, he asks this Court to reverse the ruling of the district court.

# II. Challenge to Jurisdiction.

a. Hockemier can neither establish a reasonable probability that he would not have plead guilty nor that he would have succeeded on appeal.

The majority of Hockemier's appeal focuses on the allegation that Mr. Macfarlan was ineffective in his handling of whether Hockemier's offenses fell under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court. See Appellant's Opening Brief, 28-34. Before addressing why Hockemier fails to establish

the first prong of the *Strickland* test, overcoming the presumption that counsel's assistance was competent, it seems more expedient to first address the lack of prejudice.

Specifically, the insistence on the significance of this point is fueled by an incomplete understanding of the relevant statutory provision and Nevada case law related thereto. NRS 62B.330(3)(e) reads:

3. For the purposes of this section, each of the following acts shall be deemed not to be a delinquent act, and the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over a person who is charged with committing such an act:

. . .

- (e) A category A or B felony and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as the category A or B felony, regardless of the nature of the related offense, if the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the offense was committed, and:
- (1) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense and charged before the person is at least 20 years, 3 months of age, but less than 21 years of age; or
- (2) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense until the person reaches 21 years of age.

NRS 62B.330(3)(e). All Hockemier's arguments on this issue only focus on subsection (2), "not identified by law enforcement ... until the person reaches 21 years of age." This is because Detective Hessing identified Hockemier on November 25, 2013, one day after Hockemier turned 21 years

old. Thus, Hockemier's assumption is that if Hessing had identified Hockemier just two days prior, he would have been under 21 and subsection (2) would not exclude the juvenile court's jurisdiction. This still would not preclude a juvenile court from exercising its authority under NRS 62B.335(4) to send the case right back to justice court, but this is not the most striking problem with Hockemier's argument.

The most obvious problem with relying on subsection (2) of NRS 62B.330(e) is the subsection just above it, subsection (1). Under subsection (1), the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over a person who meets all the uncontested elements of the statute and, the person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense and charged before the person is at least 20 years, 3 months of age, but less than 21 years of age.

Pursuant to this provision, even if Hockemier had been identified by Detective Hessing on November 21, 2013, 3 days before Hockemier's 21<sup>st</sup> birthday, the juvenile court still would not have jurisdiction. This is because, under subsection (1), Hockemier would still not have been identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense before he was at least 20 years, 3 months of age. Further, charges would also have not been filed before he was at least 20 years, 3 months of age.

1)

1 O

It is difficult to contemplate a situation in which a person is charged with committing an offence before law enforcement have identified them, but presumably this additional requirement contemplates a John/Jane Doe filing sometimes used in cases where DNA of the perpetrator is recovered but their name is not yet known.

Digression aside, the Respondent's interpretation of this subsection is consistent with *George J. v. State (In re George J.)*, 128 Nev. 345, 279 P.3d 187 (2012). In that matter George J. committed category A and B felony offenses when he was 17 years old. *Id.* He was not identified as the perpetrator until he was 20 years, 8 months old. *Id.* Charges were filed when he was 20 years, 10 months old. *Id.* Shortly after turning 21 George J. was arrested on the charges. *Id.* 

One of the issues raised in the appeal was whether NRS 62B.335(1) vested the juvenal court with jurisdiction. It reads in relevant part:

#### 1. If:

- (a) A person is charged with the commission of a delinquent act that occurred when the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age;
- (b) The delinquent act would have been a category A or B felony if committed by an adult;
- (c) The person is identified by law enforcement as having committed the delinquent act before the person reaches 21 years of age; and

(d) The person is apprehended by law enforcement after the person reaches 21 years of age,

»»the juvenile court has jurisdiction over the person to conduct a hearing and make the determinations required by this section in accordance with the provisions of this section.

NRS 62B.335(1)(a)-(d). The Nevada Supreme Court found that NRS 62B.330(3)(e)(1) made it so that a person who committed a category A or B felony and related offenses when the person was between 16 and 18 years of age but who is not identified and charged before 20 years, 3 months of age would be excluded from the juvenile court's jurisdiction because those acts would not be deemed to be *delinquent* acts. *Id* at 349-50(emphasis added).

Thus, even if Hockemier were able to prove that Mr. Macfarlan's assistance on this issue fell below that which Hockemier was constitutionally entitled, he, nevertheless, cannot meet the second prong of the *Strickland* test by showing that he somehow suffered prejudice as a result. More specifically, he can neither show that he would not have plead guilty nor that the issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal.

b. Substantial evidence supports the district court's holding that Hockemier failed to overcome the strong presumption that Mr. Macfarlan's professional assistance was reasonable.

Hockemier makes a bare allegation belied by the record. Specifically, he accuses Mr. Macfarlan of failing to address the "obvious" jurisdictional defect at the justice court level. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, 29:12-14. Through the testimony of Mr. Macfarlan and the exhibits admitted at the habeas hearing, it was established that Mr. Macfarlan not only recognized the potential jurisdictional issue but in fact filed a Contingent Motion to Transfer Case to Juvenile Court. *See JA* 603-691. The State filed an opposition and, four days before the preliminary hearing, the justice court conducting an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* Detective Hessing was examined by the parties at that hearing. *JA* 670.

Mr. Macfarlan testified that the motion was denied and, although disappointed, he objectively agreed with the justice court's legal analysis of the issue. *JA* 632, 634. He explained how he goes about deciding whether he should challenge an adverse ruling like the one handed down by the justice court days before the preliminary hearing. *JA* 632-634. Specifically, that he contemplates whether there exists a legitimate legal basis for appeal or in other words that he does not seek to preserve an issue for appeal if he does not believe it, is a credible appellate issue. *JA* 632.

Mr. Macfarlan ultimately, although not happy about it, concluded that

Hockemier's jurisdictional issue lacked sufficient merit to be further challenged. *JA* 634. Having recognized, litigated, and exercised his professional judgement regarding whether to further pursue the jurisdictional issue, he then moved forward with the preliminary hearing and his attack on other aspects of the State's case.

Ignoring the strong presumption of adequate assistance which was reinforced by substantial evidence presented at the habeas evidentiary hearing, Hockemier attempts to point to the preliminary hearing transcript as evidence that Mr. Macfarlan was ineffective. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, 29-32. Such an argument fails to, "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668, 689(1984).

Hockemier tries to assert that Detective Hessing's preliminary hearing testimony should have prompted Mr. Macfarlan to object to the jurisdiction issue. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, 29:19-23. Clinging to a vague reference that occurred during the direct examination of Detective Hessing at the preliminary hearing, Hockemier asserts that Hessing knew of Mr. Hockemier's identify on November 21, 2013. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, 31-32.

During the preliminary hearing, Detective Hessing is actually never asked when he identified Hockemier. *See JA* 819-824. On direct, he testified to beginning his investigation on November 21<sup>st</sup>, 2013. *JA* 819. Then, taking things out of sequential order, the prosecutor has Detective Hessing identify the defendant as Hockemier. *JA* 819.

The Detective and prosecutor then have the following exchange:

- Q. During your investigation, did you talk to all the parties involved?
- A. I talked to except for Devon, himself, yes.
- Q. On that day?
- A. Correct.
- Q. and did you talk to a Hydie Overholder?

JA 819. During the remainder of the direct examination an exact date is never attached to the above vague reference to "that day." JA 819-822.

It is quite evident that Detective Hessing was not suggesting that he had identified Hockemier on November 21, 2013. First, his declaration and report specified otherwise. Second, Hessing confirmed that his identification of Hockemier happened "at some point later on" meaning after his interview of the first victim O.M. *JA* 820. Third, he later confirmed that his interview of the second victim, C.M. did not occur until November 25, 2013. *JA* 823.

Hockemier fails to acknowledge that even if Mr. Macfarlan had lodged an objected based on the vague testimony, it would have been quickly resolved by a few clarifying questions and at most Detective Hessing refreshing his recollection with his report. Absent sufficient evidence to that contrary, Mr. Macfarlan is presumed to have foreseen this and have chosen to instead focus on other aspects of the State's case that

had not already proven unfruitful.

Mr. Macfarlan in fact did explain exactly why, he never cross-examined Detective Hessing to establish when the Detective first identified Hockemier: From his perspective the issue was moot. Not only because he had litigated the issue before the preliminary hearing but also because, in his professional experience of almost thirty years as a criminal defense attorney, an attack on the justice court's adverse ruling would all but lack merit.

Hockemier also tries to shift his burden onto the Respondent:

"...there is no transcription in the record to buttress the State's position that

the motion hearing renders this issue of jurisdiction moot. As such, the only

sworn testimony as to this issue supports Mr. Hockemier's position that

jurisdiction was lacking." Appellant's Opening Brief, 31:4-9.

The question is not whether the Respondent's position can be "buttressed." Hockemier bears the burden of overcoming the strong presumption that, under the circumstances, Mr. Macfarlan provided reasonable professional assistance. The evidence adduced at the habeas hearing seriously called into question Hockemier's reliance on the preliminary hearing transcript. Hockemier also forgets that there *is* sworn testimony as to this issue, specifically, Mr. Macfarlan's corroborated testimony provided at the habeas hearing.

Reconstructing the circumstances of this challenged conduct to evaluate it from counsel's perspective at the time shows that there is substantial evidence to support the district court's conclusion that Hockemier did not meet his burden.

# III. Sentencing

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